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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Good morning.

          3  Today's hearing is of the Public Safety Committee.

          4                 Today we continue a series of

          5  hearings held by this Committee over the past three

          6  years regarding graffiti vandalism, and the City's

          7  efforts to eradicate graffiti.

          8                 In September 2004, we heard testimony

          9  about the merger of the NYPD's Anti- Graffiti Unit

         10  and the Transit Bureau Vandal Squad, and its impact

         11  on the NYPD's Anti- Graffiti efforts.

         12                 We also took testimony on Intro. 299

         13  in relation to imposing fines against the owners of

         14  certain residential and commercial buildings that do

         15  not remove graffiti from their premises.

         16                 In November 2002, this Committee and

         17  the Council adopted legislation that adds etching

         18  acid as a prohibitive graffiti instrument, and we

         19  also increased the penalties, we doubled them, for

         20  those who make graffiti or sell instruments to

         21  minors.

         22                 Today, we consider the City's efforts

         23  to remove graffiti from bridges, overpasses,

         24  highways and other areas under control of the City,

         25  and State Departments of Transportation.
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          2                 At our last hearing, Commissioner

          3  Greenspun of the Mayor's Community Assistance Unit,

          4  testified that the City is responsible for cleaning

          5  graffiti from all the major highways in the City.

          6  Even those owned by the state, and that state funds

          7  are available for cleaning those highways.

          8                 City- owned highways must be cleaned

          9  with city funds only.  It is our understanding that

         10  there are a total of 28 highways in the City, and

         11  235 miles of that are part of the State's highway

         12  network.  There are over 2,000 bridges in the City,

         13  but only 755 are maintained and operated by the city

         14  DOT, which is responsible for graffiti removal on

         15  these structures.

         16                 The remaining 1,300 bridges are

         17  operated by other city agencies, such as Parks or

         18  state and federal entities, such as Amtrak and Port

         19  Authority and Triborough TB/TA.

         20                 This patchwork of ownership and

         21  responsibility of course, does not make it easy to

         22  remover graffiti from these bridges, yet, these

         23  venues are often the target of graffiti vandals.

         24  They serve as a visible sign of potential neglect of

         25  city neighborhoods.
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          2                 We have invited the Police

          3  Department, the City and State Departments of

          4  Transportation, the Mayor's Community Assistance

          5  Unit to testify regarding these matters.

          6                 We hope to receive clarification and

          7  how much money the city allots for graffiti removal

          8  on these structures, and what program, if any, the

          9  City has in place to deal with graffiti when it

         10  appears at these locations.

         11                 Graffiti is still a major problem in

         12  the City.  Many complaints come into my office, and

         13  the other council members office's about graffiti.

         14  Other council members have, obviously, come to me

         15  and told me the same, and have been in the forefront

         16  of our fight against graffiti.  Council members like

         17  Oddo, and Gallagher and Hiram Monserrate who has

         18  sponsored some of these bills with me.

         19                 The City and this Council has made

         20  many efforts to rectify this problem, yet bold steps

         21  are still needed.  The bills before this Committee

         22  do just that, they attempt to tackle the graffiti

         23  problem in new and innovative ways.  Some may

         24  consider these bills far reaching.  I prefer to see

         25  them as real attempts to find a solution to a
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          2  problem that adversely affects neighborhoods and

          3  communities.

          4                 Let us be clear, I understand these

          5  bills are drastic measures but if you look around on

          6  our streets, nothing we have done before today has

          7  been entirely successful.

          8                 So, let me go through what the bills

          9  are.

         10                 Intro. 299- A, sponsored by myself

         11  and Council Member Monserrate.  It is the bill I

         12  discussed earlier holding private homeowners liable

         13  for graffiti on their buildings.  Now again, this

         14  only applies six families and up, and only applies

         15  to commercial. We have made many changes to the bill

         16  to address the concerns raised by the

         17  Administration, and different community and civic

         18  organizations, and the property owners.

         19                 Under the current version, all

         20  property owners are responsible for graffiti

         21  removal, and those who own residential buildings of

         22  six or more units or commercial buildings, and fail

         23  to remove graffiti, may be fined from $150 to $300.

         24  This penalty will only be imposed after the property

         25  owner fails to remove graffiti in 30 days, or fails
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          2  to use the graffiti services of the Mayor's

          3  Community Assistance Unit.

          4                 Additionally, the City may also

          5  institute nuisance abatement proceedings against

          6  property owners who fail to remove graffiti

          7  conducted within a certain time frame.  Meaning, if

          8  a homeowner fails to remove it and the fines make no

          9  difference, the City can come in, have a court

         10  proceeding, and get permission to go onto the

         11  private property to clean it.

         12                 Every council member has one of these

         13  eyesores in their district where the owner just

         14  refuses to cooperate, and this bill was introduced

         15  basically because of that situation.

         16                 Intro. 477, sponsored by Council

         17  Members Oddo and Gallagher attempts to ensure the

         18  parents or legal guardians are aware of their

         19  children's activities, imposes a fine of up to

         20  $1,000, paid to the City, against the parent or

         21  legal guardian of a person under 18, who commits

         22  graffiti.  The parent or guardian is liable for up

         23  to $10,000 for damages to the property owner.

         24                 So, there is a $1,000 fine in court

         25  to the City but the property owner may sue also, and
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          2  get up to $10,000.  It also imposes a lien against

          3  the property of any person who commits a graffiti

          4  offense, and if the person is under 18, it goes

          5  against the parents.

          6                 In addition right now, the City is

          7  authorized to pay a $500 reward for any person who

          8  provides information leading to the conviction of a

          9  person who commits a graffiti offense.  This bill

         10  would increase that amount to $1,000.

         11                 Intro. 525, again put in by Oddo and

         12  also with McMahon and Lanza, requires any person who

         13  sells graffiti instruments, such as spray paint, to

         14  prominently display a sign indicating that such sale

         15  of items to person under 18 years of age is

         16  prohibited, and they must also ask for photo ID.  It

         17  increases the penalties also for these offenses.

         18                 The bill also makes it illegal for a

         19  person under 18 to purchase graffiti instruments.

         20  Strangely enough, that is legal, I was not even

         21  aware of that Council Member Oddo.  It is illegal to

         22  sell to somebody who is under 18, but it is not

         23  illegal for someone under 18 to buy.  So, this bill

         24  will rectify that situation.

         25                 And the last and, perhaps, the most

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  controversial bill, Intro. 556, introduced by

          3  myself, is the one that will ban the sale of

          4  graffiti instruments to anyone.  This is based on a

          5  Chicago ordinance.  It prohibits the possession of

          6  graffiti instruments by any person under 22 years of

          7  age in a public building, in a public facility, or

          8  in a public place.

          9                 Now, do not forget, we have done this

         10  before, we have done this in area of, let's say, box

         11  cutters.  Box cutters have legitimate purposes but

         12  if the City has in interest, has a legitimate

         13  interest that they can do this, it has been upheld

         14  in courts, and we can do it.  I believe there is a

         15  legitimate interest in stopping graffiti, and

         16  therefore, this is something that absolutely has to

         17  be discussed.

         18                 Number two, what this does is

         19  prohibits any person from selling instruments at all

         20  to anyone, with certain exceptions, for

         21  manufacturers, contractors, professional artists and

         22  the like.           Obviously, I have received some

         23  criticism on this bill, and I am aware it would make

         24  it much more difficult for a law abiding citizen to

         25  purchase a can of spray paint for a home improvement
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          2  project.

          3                 The question is, are law abiding

          4  citizens willing to give up the right to go to the

          5  corner store to buy a can of spray paint, and

          6  actually have to go a little further to get it, to

          7  see their city 95 percent cleaner of graffiti?

          8                 It is a discussion that is worth

          9  having.

         10                 Before we hear from the

         11  Administration, I would like to introduce the

         12  council members that are here, and also give Council

         13  Member Oddo, prime sponsor of many of these bills a

         14  chance to be heard.

         15                 We have with us Councilman Dilan,

         16  Council Member Katz, Council Member Gallagher,

         17  welcome, and Council Member Oddo.

         18                 Council Member Oddo is prime sponsor

         19  of a few of these bills, I would like to hear your

         20  opinion on what we are doing today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you, and

         22  good morning Mr. Chairman, and good morning folks.

         23                 Let me begin by commending you, Mr.

         24  Chairman, for your continued leadership on this

         25  issue.
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          2                 I happen to think that your piece of

          3  legislation is incredibly provocative, and it has

          4  started a dialog that, I think, that we need, and I

          5  appreciate your continuing efforts to, sort of,

          6  think outside of the box as we hope to minimize the

          7  phenomenon of graffiti.

          8                 I think that we cannot pattycake this

          9  issue, and painting over sites again and again is

         10  sort of like the hamster that runs on a wheel in a

         11  cage, and look at the statistics on the internet,

         12  depending on which website you want to believe.  It

         13  is either 8 billion, the Justice Department says 12

         14  billion, some websites say 15 billion.  We spend as

         15  a Nation anywhere from $8 to $15 billion dollars

         16  annually to remove graffiti, and I really want to

         17  commend you, Mr. Chairman, because you inject some

         18  common sense into an issue, and the reality is there

         19  are folks out there that continue to romanticize

         20  graffiti.

         21                 I am looking at the MetroSection,

         22  front page of the Tuesday, November 16th, 2004 New

         23  York Times, where they say- the headline of the

         24  story is`remembering and defending subway graffiti',

         25  and the reality is there are certain folks in
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          2  certain portions of this City that still romanticize

          3  this.

          4                 So, I want to thank you for calling

          5  out what it is. It is destructive.  It is vandalism,

          6  and it is the wrong thing to do.

          7                 I want to commend the Administration.

          8    I want to particularly commend CAU Commissioner

          9  Greenspun, and Tom, for their efforts.  We are on

         10  the phone, my office, with them on just about a

         11  daily basis, and they are doing a good job, and they

         12  are spending a lot time, and a lot of energy, and a

         13  lot of the taxpayers money and I just think that we

         14  need to give them more tools.

         15                 I also have to commend the Police

         16  Department and Commissioner Kelly.  They have made

         17  more graffiti related arrests in the last three

         18  months, than probably the last three years combined.

         19    Captain Jeff Fortunato (phonetic), Lieutenant

         20  Steve Mona (phonetic), Lieutenant Schneider

         21  (phonetic), have been absolutely wonderful.

         22                 I just want to read to you one more

         23  headline that I think captures the frustration that

         24  we have, and why Council Member Gallagher and I have

         25  introduced the bill.
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          2                 It is from The Staten Island Advance,

          3  interestingly enough within a week of the dopey

          4  story in the Times.  And the headline is,`three

          5  caught defacing cemetery', and 18 year old, and two

          6  16 year old girls at 1:45 in the morning defacing

          7  the back of the cemetery on Staten Island.  You read

          8  this, and you say, "where is God's name are these

          9  kids parents?"  And our bill is intended to be a

         10  wake up call of sorts for some parents, clearly the

         11  overwhelming majority of parents are doing a great

         12  job but clearly, there are some parents that need to

         13  be more engaged in their childrens' lives.

         14                 It is these kinds of headlines that

         15  made Councilman Gallagher and I introduce a curfew

         16  bill which I hope this Committee will hear in the

         17  future.  But our bill basically says that, "parents,

         18  you are going to have a financial stake in the

         19  destructive behavior of your kids, and if you cannot

         20  get a hold of your kids, and you cannot sit your

         21  kids down and say the least of your worries is going

         22  to be the police officer or the district attorney if

         23  I find out you are engaging in graffiti and you come

         24  home to this house, you are going to have to deal

         25  with me."
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          2                 This is what the intention of this

          3  bill is, and very lastly, and thank you for

          4  indulgence, the second piece of legislation, it

          5  really comes at the request of the Police

          6  Department, and it will allow them to use police

          7  officers in their sting operations, so that we can

          8  address the problem at its source. This would allow

          9  a mandate the merchants- mandate that they would

         10  have to check for identification for anyone that

         11  looks younger than 25 years old  Again, it comes

         12  right from the Citywide Vandals Taskforce.  It is

         13  another tool that they can use in the fight.

         14                 Again Mr. Chairman, thank you for

         15  engaging in this battle, and if you look around the

         16  streets in my district, you can see that we are

         17  winning some battles but we are loosing a whole lot

         18  more.  I hope our collective legislative effort will

         19  aid in that fight.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         22  Council member.  I am amazed by that Times article

         23  in defending subway graffiti.

         24                 Now, perhaps thanks to the City

         25  Council they can defend those vandals against year
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          2  long jail sentences, which they deserve.  And if you

          3  think this hearing is controversial, I look forward

          4  to the curfew hearing.  The Oddo/Gallagher bill,

          5  which I have stated we will have in this committee

          6  as soon as we get it up to speed.  That should be

          7  fun.

          8                 We are going to begin now but let me

          9  also state that we have got the Police Department

         10  with us here, and the Department of Transportation,

         11  and the Community Assistance Unit who have been

         12  doing an excellent job fighting graffiti.

         13                 We know on this Committee because we

         14  have so many anti- graffiti hearings but as I have

         15  said many times, our Police Force is down from

         16  41,000 to 36,000.  They are doing double duty. They

         17  are fighting terrorists.  They are just not able to

         18  fight graffiti the way they used to, and the City

         19  does not have the money it used to have also.  So

         20  obviously, our graffiti efforts are hampered by

         21  things beyond everyone's control in this room, and

         22  that is why we are discussing these controversial

         23  measures because I believe we need to take steps we

         24  have not thought about in order to win this fight.

         25  Not just keep running like hamsters on a wheel, as
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          2  Council Member Hamster, Council Member Oddo said.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I have been

          4  called worse in this part of the building and on the

          5  other side, so.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Sorry about

          7  that.

          8                 But as Council Member Oddo said, not

          9  to keep running like hamsters on a wheel but to

         10  actually win this fight.

         11                 So, today we have with us Chief

         12  Edward Young from the NYPD, David Woloch, our Deputy

         13  Commissioner for External Affairs in the Department

         14  of Transportation and Thomas Curitore the First

         15  Deputy Commissioner of the Mayor's Community

         16  Assistance Unit.

         17                 Welcome, and Sue Petito, the ever

         18  present Sue Petito, thank you all, gentlemen and

         19  ladies, and you may begin in whatever order you deem

         20  appropriate.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CURITORE:

         22  Good morning, good morning, Chairman Vallone, and

         23  members of the Committee.

         24                 My name is Thomas Curitore, and I am

         25  the First Deputy Commissioner of the Mayor's
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          2  Community Assistance Unit.

          3                 I appear before you today with my

          4  colleagues from the Bloomberg Administration to lend

          5  my voice in support of your efforts that attempt to

          6  add to the present laws that curb what we often

          7  refer to as`quality of life' crime in New York City.

          8                 Specifically, I am referring to

          9  graffiti, a symbol of urban blight which can

         10  instantly, and in many cases unfairly portray a

         11  community as neglected or crime ridden.

         12                 Last year, the Task Force cleaned

         13  over 9,000 locations citywide.  Additionally, the

         14  Mayor's Paint Program has given out paint supplies

         15  to community organizations so that they too can

         16  coordinate efforts in their own neighborhoods to

         17  combat graffiti.

         18                 As we have testified before, the

         19  Administration supports the concept of what Intro.

         20  299, and now 299- A attempts to accomplish.

         21                 However, we still have concerns with

         22  the language relating to the definition of graffiti.

         23    We have previously testified that the definition

         24  of graffiti in the previous version of Intro. 299

         25  created a loophole, that a simple statement by the
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          2  building owner that he or she approves of the

          3  graffiti would preclude the imposition of a penalty.

          4

          5                 Though we appreciate the Council's

          6  attempt to take into consideration our concern, the

          7  solution provided has in essence, now caused a

          8  concern that First Amendment rights may be infringed

          9  upon.

         10                 But we do not agree with the

         11  definition used in the legislation, we are

         12  optimistic that we can find language that could

         13  narrow the loophole without causing a question of

         14  First Amendment rights.

         15                 Mayor Bloomberg has made quality of

         16  life a top priority.  We and our fellow city

         17  agencies have testified before this Committee on

         18  numerous occasions regarding the methods, and

         19  initiatives the City used to combat graffiti.

         20                 We will continue to combat this

         21  quality of life crime with a pro- active,

         22  coordinated, and sensible approach so that we made

         23  rid the City we love of this blight.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Good morning
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          2  Mr. Chairman, and members of the Council.

          3                 I am Assistant Chief, Edward Young

          4  the Executive Officer for the Chief of the

          5  Department, the New York City Police Department, and

          6  on behalf of Police Commissioner Raymond Kelly and

          7  Chief of the Department Joseph Esposito, I am

          8  pleased to be here today to discuss three bills

          9  before you, strengthening the law to combat

         10  graffiti.

         11                 Quality of life issues, and graffiti

         12  vandalism in particular, are a high priority for the

         13  Police Department and receive our sustained

         14  attention, as we discussed with this Committee last

         15  September.  We appreciate the Council's efforts to

         16  further address the problem of graffiti in New York

         17  City as represented by Intros. 477, 525 and 556, and

         18  strongly support the intent behind all three bills.

         19                 Significant elements of the bills

         20  include the introduction of parental responsibility

         21  for graffiti violations as well as the requirement

         22  of signage, putting the public on notice that it is

         23  illegal to sell the tools commonly used to make

         24  graffiti to minors.

         25                 We look forward to working with the
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          2  Council to reach agreement on a comprehensive

          3  approach incorporating elements of all three bills,

          4  to create legislation which is strong, but also fair

          5  to those with legitimate need for aerosol spray

          6  paint cans, broad tipped markers, and etching acid.

          7                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

          8  here today, and we will be pleased to answer your

          9  questions.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Good

         11  morning Chairman Vallone, and members of the Public

         12  Safety Committee.

         13                 I am David Woloch, Deputy

         14  Commissioner for External Affairs at the New York

         15  City Department of Transportation.  Also with us

         16  today is Al Novak, who is DOT's Deputy Chief

         17  Engineer for Bridges.

         18                 Thank you for inviting us to testify

         19  about the City's efforts to remove graffiti from

         20  bridges, overpasses and arterial highways.

         21                 In Fiscal Year 2004, DOT removed

         22  nearly 4.6 million square feet of graffiti from

         23  bridges, underpasses and overpasses. Through the

         24  SAMP program, State Arterial Maintenance Program,

         25  NYCDOT is able to remove graffiti once a month on
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          2  State owned roadways and overpasses located within

          3  the City.

          4                 There ar 28 highways in New York

          5  City, 23 of which are mostly owned by the State and

          6  5 of which are mostly owned by the City.

          7                 We are also able to remove graffiti

          8  on the East River Bridges using federal funds

          9  allocated specifically for capital maintenance on

         10  those bridges.  City funding for the Graffiti

         11  Removal program on City- owned bridges and roadways

         12  was eliminated beginning in January 2003.  So

         13  unfortunately, we are not always able to remove

         14  graffiti on City owned bridges and highways when we

         15  receive requests.  However, when we can make

         16  resources available, we do try to remove as much

         17  graffiti as possible on these roadways.

         18                 The Mayor and Commissioner believe

         19  that graffiti removal is an important quality of

         20  life issue for all New Yorkers, and DOT will

         21  continue to try to do as much removal as possible

         22  given our financial constraints.

         23                 Thank you again for inviting me to

         24  testify today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.
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          2                 Let me begin with some oversight over

          3  the city's bridge removal, Bridge Graffiti Removal

          4  Unit.

          5                 Sorry, Mr. Wolock but unfortunately,

          6  what you just said seems to be hugely important but

          7  it was just mentioned in one sentence.

          8                 You say here, "that the City funding

          9  for the Graffiti Removal Program on City- owned

         10  bridges and roadways was eliminated beginning in

         11  January 2003, so unfortunately, we are not always

         12  not able to remove graffiti on City- owned bridges

         13  and highways."  Well, that is just not acceptable,

         14  and I think it indicates why we need to do some of

         15  these other things we are looking at today.

         16                 So, let's- give me an example of a

         17  City- owned bridge right now that- give me an

         18  example of a City- owned bridge.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Sure,

         20  well the bulk of the work, and the bulk of the

         21  graffiti that we are talking about, the DOT,

         22  addresses is on the highway system, and I- just to

         23  get at your first point, the reason the City was in

         24  a position to eliminate the city funded program is

         25  that we get an enormous amount of aid from the state
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          2  for our efforts.

          3                 So, of the 28, again, of the 28

          4  highways in the city, 23 of them are covered by the

          5  state program.  There are five highways that are

          6  considered part of the city program.

          7                 Now, when we say bridges, bridges in

          8  many cases refers to overpasses that are part of the

          9  arterial system, so, you would not normally

         10  recognize that you are on a bridge, per se, you are

         11  on a highway.  There are other bridges that are

         12  roadway bridges, and other ones that cross rivers

         13  but there are five highways that are part of the

         14  City system, if you will, as opposed to the state

         15  system.  So, the bulk of the highway system is still

         16  covered by the state program, and again, we do try

         17  to get to the other five when we can.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well, forgive

         19  me for being skeptical when anyone says that the

         20  state gives us a huge amount of funds in any area.

         21                 So, you said there were 28 highways,

         22  23 of which are owned by the state, how much state

         23  funding do we get?

         24                 How much did we get this year, how

         25  much have we received in previous years?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  It is

          3  about $390,000 that we get per year from the state's

          4  SAMP program.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And has that

          6  amount remained constant, or has it been decreasing

          7  a little the last few years?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  No, that

          9  amount has remained constant.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Because

         11  apparently, I do not think it could get any less.

         12  Three hundred and ninety thousand for 28 highways.

         13  That is an amazingly small amount.  Sorry I have to

         14  differ with you when you say there is a huge amount

         15  of state funding.  What does that buy, a couple of

         16  pieces of equipment and a few workers?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  It is

         18  not paying for the equipment.  It is paying for the

         19  workers.  It is essentially paying for a unit that,

         20  weather permitting, everyday is out on one of the

         21  arterials.  So, we get to those 23 about once a

         22  month.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Now that leaves

         24  five highways that you say the city owns that have

         25  bridges on them.
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          2                 How often do you get to those?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  When we

          4  can, I mean again, that program was cut, and I think

          5  the impact of that is that we cannot do that on a

          6  regular basis.

          7                 I think, what it basically does is,

          8  look, I think we would all rather have enough

          9  funding to do every highway as frequently as

         10  possible.

         11                 When the city program was cut,

         12  impacting those five highways, it put us in a

         13  position where we need to make resources available

         14  when we can.

         15                 So, if there is other work that we

         16  can free up folks for, we will try to do it.  A lot

         17  of it has to do with the weather. During the winter,

         18  we are not going to schedule big bridge painting

         19  jobs, but if we have a nice day like today, perhaps

         20  we will be able to free bridge painters from some of

         21  the winter work they do to get out there on one of

         22  those highways.

         23                 So, it puts us in a position where we

         24  have to try to juggle, and we basically do the best

         25  that we can with what we have. And I think that is
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          2  part of the challenge when you have financial

          3  constraints, you need to try to do as much as you

          4  can with what you can.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I know we have

          6  written letters back and forth on this topic, and I

          7  know I have told you that they are as vague as you

          8  are being today.

          9                 We have got five city- owned

         10  highways, Cross Island Parkway, Laurelton Parkway,

         11  Belt Parkway, Marshall Hill, FDR Drive. You have got

         12  no money in the City Bridge Graffiti Removal

         13  Program.            What money is used to clean

         14  those highways?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  There is

         16  no money specifically earmarked for those five but

         17  when we can, we can pull people from our bridge

         18  painting unit, and try to address those. There is

         19  not an amount that is funded, per se.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I am sorry Mr.

         21  Woloch.  Can you repeat that again?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Sure,

         23  that there- as opposed to the 23 arterials that are

         24  part of the SAMP program, where we have that

         25  specific amount that is funded by the state, that
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          2  pays for a crew that is dedicated to graffiti

          3  removal, when it comes to these other five, there is

          4  not an amount that is earmarked for them, per se.

          5                 It is a question of pulling bridge

          6  painters from other responsibilities.  There is a

          7  trade- off, and we try to get as much work done on

          8  these as possible but there is not a specific amount

          9  allocated for it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  There is no one

         11  else available to clean these bridges, we have

         12  tried, it takes specialized equipment.  No one else

         13  can do it but your agency.

         14                 So, you are saying that you have no

         15  graffiti unit to clean these bridges.  There are

         16  some major highways here we are discussing, and you

         17  can do it when you get around to it.

         18                 I am not sure that is a sufficient

         19  answer for this Committee, to do it when we get

         20  around to it or when we have a chance.

         21                 The reason I missed your answer the

         22  first time is because I was handed a letter from Ira

         23  Weinshall, which says that your funding for Fiscal

         24  Year 2002, from all of your sources city and state,

         25  was $931,000, which has been cut almost in half now
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          2  in 2005, which is not exactly what you had said to

          3  me earlier.

          4                 Do you know how- what is the

          5  explanation for that?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Well,

          7  there is two sources of funds that we get.  We get,

          8  again, about $390,000 for the SAMP program.

          9                 We have also started to get federal

         10  money for graffiti removal on the East River

         11  bridges.

         12                 The total is less than it was before

         13  but between those two sources of funding, and what

         14  we can pull, on occasion, from city funds, we try to

         15  do as much as we can.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So the total is

         17  half of what we had just a few years ago, and we

         18  have absolutely no graffiti cleaning unit for city

         19  bridges right now.

         20                 That is just not a good state of

         21  affairs in our fight against graffiti.

         22                 Let me move for a moment to a

         23  question from Council Member Dilan.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chair.
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          2                 I will be brief.

          3                 I have a question just for Deputy

          4  Commissioner Woloch, and it surrounded the funding

          5  levels we received from the state.

          6                 On the cleaning crew that you

          7  described, how many members are on that cleaning

          8  crew?  How many individuals?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  I think

         10  it is six.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Six

         12  individuals.

         13                 Okay, and I guess, the Chairman many

         14  have asked this but I believe I was reading

         15  something and may have missed it, but what was the

         16  last amount of city funds your agency received to

         17  clean bridges within the city?  Do you know that

         18  amount?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Yes, I

         20  think it was about $500,000.  Yes, it was in 2002

         21  the last year, when that unit was fully funded, it

         22  was about a little over $500,000.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay, thank

         24  you.

         25                 Just Mr. Chair, I know we are coming
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          2  up on our budget hearings pretty soon, and I would

          3  just say that this is an area where I would look to

          4  support you in starting a new initiative.  I do not

          5  know how much new initiative funds are actually out

          6  there this Fiscal Year, but $500,000 certainly seems

          7  to be a nominal amount.

          8                 I would be looking forward to working

          9  with you to gain some funding to clean these

         10  bridges.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You are

         12  absolutely right, council member.  When it comes to

         13  graffiti on the streets, community groups step up,

         14  the Community Assistance Unit steps up.           When

         15  it comes to graffiti on highways and bridges, there

         16  is nothing anyone can do other than this agency, so,

         17  we are kind of stuck.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Will you allow

         19  me one more brief question?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Say for

         22  $500,000, at that rate, how many crews or members of

         23  the cleaning unit would that get your agency?

         24  Approximately, I do not need an exact figure.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Probably
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          2  no more than one full crew.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  One full crew

          4  consisting of how many people?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Again, I

          6  think it is- it is five people on a crew.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  On a crew,

          8  thank you.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chair

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Council Member

         11  Oddo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you.

         13                 Gentlemen, I appreciate the, I think

         14  I guess I could say, the general support of the

         15  bills that are being discussed today, but can anyone

         16  elaborate- does the Administration, or any

         17  department of the Administration have any

         18  fundamental opposition to the notion of parental

         19  responsibility which is featured in the bill that I

         20  am introducing?

         21                 I mean are their any specific

         22  concerns with the bill, or do we take your testimony

         23  as, hopefully, as support of the bill?

         24                 Can anybody speak to that?

         25                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Well, from
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          2  the Police Department's perspective, we are entirely

          3  supportive of the bill.            We would

          4  recognize that probably there are some operational

          5  issues that may exist in terms of serving the parent

          6  with an ECB problem, and we would, obviously, work

          7  through those issues but conceptionally, we are very

          8  supportive of it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  That is great.

         10  Anybody else?

         11                 That is great.  I just want to point

         12  out that I think the perception folks have about

         13  graffiti, at least in my district, that a lot of

         14  people think that graffiti is done by "kids", and if

         15  you look at the- and a lot is done by kids, and that

         16  is why we are introducing this bill.

         17                 The unfortunate realities are there

         18  are some young adults, I would dare say, older than

         19  some of the folks serving in Iraq, dying in Iraq,

         20  but if you look at the arrests made from 2004 and

         21  2005 on Staten Island, and you have some 20 year

         22  olds, and some 17 and 18 year olds but you have a 13

         23  year old, a 14 year old, a 16 year old, a 15 year

         24  old, a 15 year old, a 15 year old, a 12 year old, a

         25  14 year old, a 14 year old, a 15 year old, a 15 year

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  old, and I think that this small universe represents

          3  our argument; that there are young people out there

          4  that should not be out there doing this, and that

          5  parents have to be more engaged.

          6                 So, I am happy to hear that the

          7  Administration, particularly the Police Department

          8  realizes that this is a helpful tool for them.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

         11                 Mr. Woloch, in 2002 city funding to

         12  clean these bridges was at over a half a million

         13  dollars.

         14                 In 2003, it was down to $269,000.

         15                 In 2004 and 2005, it was cut to

         16  absolutely zero.

         17                      Who made that decision?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  I do not

         19  know who specifically, but that was the

         20  Administrations decision at the time.

         21                 I just have to make one correction

         22  because to say that the funding for those highways

         23  is at zero is not exactly correct.

         24                 It is correct in terms of how much is

         25  specifically earmarked for those arterials but we
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          2  are able, again, to pull resources from time to

          3  time.

          4                 So, it is not as if those highways

          5  are never seen as far as graffiti removal.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I am just

          7  trying to run these numbers through my head, and you

          8  get $300,000 for 23 state highways.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  Four-

         10  hundred thousand.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Four- hundred

         12  thousand, you say that is enough.  But you cut city

         13  funding from $500,000 to nothing, and are telling us

         14  you occasionally pull painters off another project.

         15                 How can you possibly continue to

         16  fight graffiti with that type of- those resources?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  We

         18  cannot reach the same levels that we were meeting in

         19  2002.  There is no question about that but, again,

         20  it is not just a question of, we lost that funding

         21  and therefore, we lost all our ability to stretch

         22  our resources.

         23                 I think it put a burden on us that we

         24  are doing our best to live up to, to try to stretch

         25  the resources that we have as efficiently as
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          2  possible to meet the graffiti removal needs on all

          3  of the structures in our portfolio.

          4                 At the end of the day, there is going

          5  to be less removed than in 2002 but, again, by

          6  trying to efficiently use our resources, we can get

          7  that number as close as possible, and again, the

          8  fact that we do get chunks of funding from the feds,

          9  from the state, goes a long way.  Most of the

         10  arterial, the large majority, 80 percent or so of

         11  the arterial system throughout the five boroughs is

         12  having graffiti removed about once a month with the

         13  state assistance.

         14                 I think that goes a long way towards

         15  improving the quality of life for all of us.

         16  Because, again, it is the lion's share of the

         17  highway system in the City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Our bridges are

         19  perhaps our most visible monuments, and

         20  unfortunately, they are now monuments to graffiti,

         21  which is staying on there for longer and longer

         22  periods of time, and that is unacceptable.

         23                 You mentioned you are loosing

         24  funding, and obviously you are, and you can only

         25  work with what you are given but that funding was
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          2  not lost because the state or the federal government

          3  took it away from us.

          4                 The City made a decision that it was

          5  going to cut its graffiti removal unit by half a

          6  million dollars, while at the same time saying they

          7  are stepping up the fight against graffiti, not

          8  acceptable.

          9                 We have been joined by Council

         10  Members Jennings, Council Member Yassky, let me go

         11  now to Council Member Yassky for a question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you

         13  very much, Chair Vallone, and first of all, I just

         14  thank you for holding another hearing on this topic

         15  because it really merits it.  I mean, I do not want

         16  to be a doomsayer or an alarmist but I- there is no

         17  doubt that in the neighborhoods I represent we have

         18  seen an upsurge in graffiti, again, I am not saying-

         19  we are not back to the bad old days but certain

         20  neighborhoods that are thriving neighborhoods, not

         21  in decline, more store owners are seeing graffiti on

         22  their stores.

         23                 So, my question is- I just have a

         24  question about some facts.

         25                 How many arrests have been made in
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          2  the last year or whatever period you measure for

          3  graffiti?

          4                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Well, council

          5  member, we started on October 15th, as I testified

          6  before the council, a strategic approach for the

          7  NYPD in addressing graffiti enforcement, along with

          8  education, and along with community outreach.

          9                 On the enforcement side of that, we

         10  took specialized units and joined them together and

         11  formulated the Citywide Vandals Task Force.  Since

         12  October 15th to February 6th, the arrests for the

         13  Vandals Task Force has been up 14 percent, and that

         14  is in looking at what was done last year where the

         15  graffiti arrests by the two units were actually down

         16  over 20 percent.

         17                 So, with this consolidation, marked

         18  improvement in terms of activity.  But on top of

         19  that as part of the initiative, we did a- identified

         20  coordinators in every sub- unit within the agency,

         21  and for this year, January the first 37 days if you

         22  will, in this year, graffiti arrests totally in the

         23  City are up 92 percent.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I am sorry,

         25  you are saying that that is the first whatever month
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          2  and a little bit of this year, January and a little

          3  bit of February, compared to January and a little

          4  bit of February of 2004?

          5                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Well, we are

          6  talking specifically- I am focusing in on the, since

          7  the initiative started.  The focus of the

          8  initiative, the statistics that I have today are

          9  from January 1st, for a citywide total, and

         10  specifically on the Vandals Task Force, from the

         11  start of the initiative.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And what are

         13  the actual numbers behind that, the 92 percent, is

         14  that--.

         15                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Yes, from

         16  January 1st to February 6th, 227 arrests versus 118

         17  arrests, and that is the enforcement coming out of

         18  everybody.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And that is

         20  citywide arrests for graffiti, or that is just by

         21  the Task Force, or that would include precincts?

         22                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  No, no, that

         23  is everybody.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, I am

         25  sorry, I did not mean to interrupt but I do not want
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          2  to take too much time.

          3                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  I can give

          4  you some clarity relative from the Task Force from

          5  October 15th to January 31st, being up 14.4 percent

          6  was 79 arrests versus 69.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, that is

          8  for that Task Force.

          9                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  2004 versus

         11  2003?

         12                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Well, from

         13  October 15th, since the initiative started.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes, that

         15  period of time.

         16                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And how many

         18  of those, let's take those Task Force arrests, it

         19  was 79 compared to 60- something, I did not get the

         20  second number.

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Right, 79

         22  versus 69.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Sixty- one?

         24                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Sixty- nine.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Sixty- nine,
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          2  okay.

          3                 Do you know, let's take of the 69

          4  arrests from the end, the latter part of 2003 what

          5  happens to those folks?  How many of them are

          6  prosecuted?  And what the disposition is of those

          7  prosecutions?

          8                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  I do not have

          9  the dispositions of those cases.  I mean, they all

         10  go through the system.

         11                 Anecdotally, I can tell you that they

         12  are probably ACD in many circumstances, I am sure

         13  there are some penalties in other circumstances but

         14  I do not have a breakout of the dispositions of

         15  those arrests.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Is that

         17  something that you could provide later to the

         18  Committee?

         19                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  It would take

         20  some extensive work for it but going- the

         21  individuals and tracking, going into the criminal

         22  justice system, it would take some time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  It would,

         24  okay.  I am just curious.  I am just want to try and

         25  get at- it is my anecdotal sense and the data may
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          2  contradict this, that the punishments are not-

          3  people do not, in fact, get actually punished.

          4                 Now, this is not your responsibility,

          5  of course, not the NYPD's job but it has been my

          6  sense at the worst what a graffiti vandal can expect

          7  is to get an arrest and ACD, and that there is no

          8  punishment that comes along with that.

          9                 Is that- I would be very curious to

         10  see if--.

         11                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  No, I would

         12  not state that, I mean, I am sure there are ACD's in

         13  a good number of them, and I am sure that there is

         14  some punishment.

         15                 I can probably safely say there is no

         16  one going to Attica because of graffiti but I am

         17  sure there are people being given more punishment

         18  than others.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well,

         20  whatever data you can generate on that, I would be

         21  very curious to see.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 ASSISTANT CHIEF YOUNG:  Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Mr.

         25  Chairman, I have another committee.  I need to leave
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          2  and come back in.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Have a nice

          5  trip.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Council Member

          8  Gallagher.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chairman.

         11                 Once again, thank you for holding

         12  these hearings.

         13                 I just have a few questions.

         14  Actually, one is more of a comment than a question

         15  but I will start with Deputy Chief Young.

         16                 Do you the arrest statistics broken

         17  down by borough?

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Can you

         20  give us the borough breakdown please?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  For January

         22  through February 6th, for Manhattan South, 36.

         23  Manhattan North, 18.  Bronx, 28. Brooklyn South, 46.

         24    Brooklyn, North, 22.  Queens South, 14. Queens

         25  North, 45.  Staten Island, 18.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay.  I

          3  will not ask you to read them out but do you have

          4  police precinct that you might be able to make

          5  available to the Committee?

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  I have numbers

          7  for individual precincts, sure.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  If you

          9  would not mind making that available to the

         10  Committee, if that is okay, Mr. Chairman?

         11                 And second, I wanted a comment to say

         12  thank you for your support of parental

         13  responsibility.  I think it is very important, and I

         14  wanted to thank my colleague, Council Member Oddo,

         15  for introducing that bill.

         16                 My next comment really is going back

         17  to the bridges, and to you Mr. Woloch.

         18                 I cannot believe what I heard here

         19  today.  You know, I have community and civic groups

         20  that go out, they clean up graffiti, not only do

         21  they clean up graffiti but they stake out graffiti

         22  locations at night to try to help and work in

         23  coordination with the police precinct to try to get

         24  graffiti vandals arrested. We despise and hate

         25  graffiti vandalism.  It is a major quality of life
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          2  distraction, and here we are being told at this

          3  Committee that we are not going to be able to remove

          4  graffiti, in most cases on bridges.  On bridges

          5  where people are going to be driving through the

          6  City, and we are talking about the resurgence of the

          7  City, and what a wonderful city it is, going through

          8  down the Belt Parkway, they are going to look and

          9  they are going to see graffiti because we just do

         10  not seem to have the resources to get to it because

         11  we decided to eliminate $500,000.  And then to be

         12  told that we have to stretch our resources.  Well,

         13  it is pretty hard to stretch zero dollars as a

         14  resource for graffiti removal on our bridges and our

         15  highways.

         16                 I suggest that you go back and tell

         17  them that this Committee, from what I hear from the

         18  Chairman, and various council members are very upset

         19  with the elimination of this funding.  It is nothing

         20  something that we can afford to do.  We want to

         21  combat quality of life crimes.  We want to tackle

         22  quality of life issues. We ask our community to

         23  partake in community- related graffiti cleanups.  We

         24  ask them to volunteer.  We ask them to donate money

         25  from private citizens, and then our government is
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          2  just not pulling through on their responsibility to

          3  keep our bridges and highways graffiti free.

          4                 So I say, "shame on the City of New

          5  York, and shame on the Department of Transportation

          6  for eliminating that funding."

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

          8  Council member.

          9                 We have also been joined by Council

         10  Member Gonzalez. For some reason I could not see her

         11  earlier.

         12                 Just because I am still confused

         13  about this.  Let's take the Grand Central Parkway

         14  for example.

         15                 There are bridges going over the

         16  Grand Central Parkway, such as the Steinway Street

         17  Bridge, which you and I know well, Commissioner

         18  Woloch.

         19                 The bridges, such as the Steinway

         20  Street Bridge, who owns that?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  That is

         22  city- owned.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So would that

         24  be the case for most of the bridges that go over the

         25  Grand Central and other highways such as the, say,
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          2  the Cross Bronx?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  It will

          4  probably vary from corridor to corridor.

          5                 The state owns 668 bridges, the city

          6  owns 786.  So, I cannot tell you corridor by

          7  corridor but certainly there are a large number of

          8  city- owned bridges throughout the five boroughs.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Council member,

         10  786 city- owned bridges and zero dollars.  I think

         11  we are on the same page here.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH:  But, I

         13  just would like to point something out again.  It is

         14  not a question of stretching zero dollars, it is a

         15  question of stretching the resources that we have

         16  for bridge painting generally, and again, about 80

         17  percent of the arterial system gets taken care of

         18  with state funding.

         19                 The East River Bridges get taken care

         20  of with federal funding.

         21                 In terms of addressing the other

         22  infrastructure, it is a question of from time to

         23  time pulling resources from our bridge painting

         24  operation, and it is balancing the different aspects

         25  of that operation, whether it is spot painting,
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          2  whether it is larger painting jobs, whether it is

          3  graffiti removal.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  There are five

          5  city highways, and 700 city bridges, what you are

          6  telling us today, where you will occasionally pull

          7  people from, from time to time, where we used to

          8  have a half a million dollars, and we now have zero.

          9    That is unacceptable.  That is what we are saying

         10  here today.

         11                 I do not want to beat a dead horse on

         12  this, so I think you understand where we all are.

         13                 So, let me move over to Chief Young

         14  for a moment on one of the bills, actually I am

         15  sorry, to Mr. Curitore.

         16                 Let me thank you publicly for all the

         17  help you have been in my district, and I am sure in

         18  other council members districts.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CURITORE:

         20  Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Whenever we

         22  call for the Community Assistance Unit to come in,

         23  you are there.

         24                 What many homeowners do not know is

         25  that if you call your council member, if you cannot
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          2  get through to the City for some reason, call your

          3  council member.  We will have a crew out there,

          4  working with the Community Assistance Unit to clean

          5  your property. So the fact that it is too expensive,

          6  or you could not get it done is not an excuse.  We

          7  will get out there, and we will clean the property.

          8  Jimmy Oddo will get out and clean it himself.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CURITORE:

         10  And he does.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  He has done it

         12  before.

         13                 So, thank you for all the help.

         14                 You mentioned in your testimony that

         15  you had a problem with our bill holding six family

         16  buildings and commercial property owners liable for

         17  graffiti.  You said that their First Amendment

         18  rights might be impinged upon.

         19                 Now we worked on that, and what we

         20  did in the new version of the bill is create a

         21  hearing process before anyone could go onto the

         22  property to clean it to allow a community owner come

         23  in and state what First Amendment rights are being

         24  exercised on his property.

         25                 Why is that not enough to take care
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          2  of your concerns?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CURITORE:

          4  It just poses a bigger problem with the graffiti.

          5  Some homeowners as when we are out there or some

          6  people do not want it cleaned.  So, we may just make

          7  the penalty process not work right to get rid of the

          8  fine in cleaning it up.  It is a loophole for the

          9  property owner.  In other words, they will not have

         10  to clean it up then.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  A loophole, to

         12  explain for people who are not in on our

         13  conversations, is the fact that the property owner

         14  was able to give permission for the graffiti to be

         15  there, therefore, you could not find them because

         16  they would just say, "I gave permission" in every

         17  case, correct?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CURITORE:

         19  Just repeat please.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  The loophole

         21  was that in order to fine someone, there was an

         22  exception for a property owner who gave permission

         23  for the graffiti to be on the property, therefore,

         24  in every case the property owner would just check a

         25  box, and therefore, not be liable for the fine.

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 We took care of that loophole by

          3  putting a process in a hearing process, where the

          4  property owner could come down and convince a judge

          5  that there was an actual purpose to the filth on

          6  that property owners wall, and the judge would make

          7  the decision whether there was a First Amendment

          8  right, or whether or not it was a nuisance in the

          9  neighborhood.

         10                 Counsel.

         11                 COUNSEL:  Yes, I think the problem

         12  became, once we took the consent required out of the

         13  definition of graffiti, it actually became clear

         14  that the definition of graffiti was itself

         15  potentially a big problem, and so, what we want to

         16  do is try to work with you to refine the actual

         17  definition of graffiti because, right now, it would

         18  cover anything, including advertising or art work on

         19  the building that we would not even consider

         20  graffiti.

         21                 So, we want to try to think this

         22  through a little bit, and try to refine the

         23  definition.  And it may include putting some element

         24  back in consent, it may include trying to figure out

         25  what, if there is a substantive way to talk about
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          2  what graffiti is but I think we need to think that

          3  through together a little bit.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I am sure we

          5  will be able to do that.  Actually, I should not be

          6  so sure, it is a problem that people throughout the

          7  country have been wrestling with; how to define

          8  graffiti but if anybody could solve it, you can Sue

          9  Petito, so, get to work on that.

         10                 Regarding fines in general, what is

         11  the City's position on fining, again, six- family

         12  buildings and up, and commercial property for

         13  allowing graffiti to remain on their property?

         14                 COUNSEL:  I think that we do agree

         15  that there is value in having a monetary penalty

         16  associated with the failure to remove graffiti in

         17  some way, just to cover the cost of removing it, if

         18  we end up having to remove it as the City.

         19                 So, I think we are supportive of

         20  that, and we note that the Council did remove the

         21  penalty provision, the financial penalty provision

         22  from residential buildings, less than six units. So,

         23  I think that that probably is something that we can

         24  support.  We probably need to talk a little bit

         25  about if that penalty is adequate, if it recovers
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          2  the cost of the actual cleaning, especially on a

          3  large building.  But again, something I think we

          4  need to talk through.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You know me, if

          6  it is not adequate, we raise it.  Not a problem.

          7  This is discussion I like to have.

          8                 Are there any comments on Council

          9  Member Oddo's bill regarding holding parents liable

         10  for higher fines in instances of graffiti?

         11                 COUNSEL:  Again, we are very

         12  supportive of the issue of holding parents

         13  accountable.

         14                 They are already liable as you have

         15  noted in your report under the general obligations

         16  law.  This mechanism might make it a little bit

         17  easier to both, serve the parents, and get some

         18  money back, so, I think that we are generally

         19  supportive of the concept, as Chief Young mentioned,

         20  we may have to work out the operational aspects of

         21  it regarding how to get the parents served.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And what about

         23  the reward aspect of that bill?  Raising it from

         24  $500 to $1,000?

         25                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  Council Member
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          2  Vallone, the current reward of $500 is actually

          3  being funded by the Police Foundation, not by the

          4  City, and so to suggest increasing an outside

          5  funding source to $1,000, I do not know.  But it is

          6  not being funded by the City.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  That is a very

          8  good point.

          9                 How much have you rewarded in the

         10  past?

         11                 How has the program been working?

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  Well, the big- I

         13  guess since the State of the City was actually the

         14  first public announcement that talked about the

         15  reward, even though The Post had been being put out

         16  throughout the City, and right now we have, as of

         17  last week, eight cases in the pipeline that they

         18  are, at least, investigating.  Two of those eight

         19  have- we have made arrests on, and out of those two,

         20  the cases are still pending.

         21                 So, the reward requirement is an

         22  arrest and conviction.  So, once we get the

         23  disposition of the cases, then we will reward those

         24  individuals.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  How does it
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          2  actually work?

          3                 Is it for just the arrest, or is it

          4  for the conviction?

          5                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  It is the arrest

          6  and conviction.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We had an

          8  oversight hearing not too long ago regarding the

          9  merger of the- how has that been working out?

         10                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  It is working

         11  very good, and I think Council Member Oddo has

         12  attested from his perspective that the Task Force

         13  has increased its productivity, again, just looking

         14  from the point of consolidation on October 15th,

         15  comparing the arrest activity in that period with

         16  the two bifurcated units from the period before, we

         17  are up over 14 percent, and in addition to that, the

         18  Task Force, we have implemented a Graffiti

         19  Intelligence Data Base, and we have enhanced their

         20  MISD Systems in the Task Force.

         21                 They are able to track the arrests,

         22  and have 311 calls now going into the Task Force,

         23  so, the consolidation is working wonderfully.

         24                 On top of that, as I mentioned

         25  before, the support by the individual precincts and
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          2  housing PSA's and transit districts has increased

          3  the amount of arrests tremendously.

          4                 So, from the aspect of enforcement in

          5  the entire strategy, I am very, very pleased.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We were

          7  concerned about a few things.

          8                 One was the fact that the street unit

          9  would now be involved in additional crimes other

         10  than graffiti, down in the subway system.

         11  Apparently the focus is still staying on graffiti,

         12  and we are happy about that.  We are also concerned

         13  about the manpower needed.

         14                 Now after the hearing, the Mayor came

         15  out very shortly after that with an announcement

         16  about increasing the membership of the unit.

         17                 Can you explain to us- has it been

         18  increased lately?

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  Sure, at the

         20  time of the hearings I testified that there was one

         21  lieutenant, three sergeants, and ten additional

         22  police officers.  I do not recall if they had

         23  already been there or they are in the process of

         24  going there but they definitely were in place by

         25  October 15th.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So there were

          3  no additional additions after our hearing?

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  I am not sure if

          5  they went in prior- after the hearing but additional

          6  resources as a result of the NYPD strategy, and

          7  subsequent to the consolidation, were put into the

          8  unit.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So the total

         10  amount now is how many?

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  It is sixty

         12  police officers, 13 or so sergeants, I do not know

         13  the exact figure but it is approaching 80.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  This is what we

         15  like to hear, additional resources to graffiti- to

         16  fight graffiti.

         17                 Poor Mr. Woloch has to sit there and

         18  work with almost no money.

         19                 We understand it is not you, Mr.

         20  Woloch.

         21                 Are there any other questions from

         22  council members?

         23                 Council Member Oddo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Can I just- two

         25  comments really.
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          2                 One is that with reference to the

          3  effectiveness of the Task Force.  I have one of the

          4  guys who is working in Staten Island who is a former

          5  anti- crime officer, and basically he said dealing

          6  with some of these graffiti vandals is like shooting

          7  fish in a barrel.  So that- you are taking some

          8  really experienced officers and now focusing on

          9  graffiti.

         10                 The second point I want to make is in

         11  response to Council Member Yassky's point because I

         12  think he raises a very real issue in that we talked

         13  about the hamster on the wheel but you cannot have a

         14  revolving door where the NYPD spends all these

         15  resources and then these young people, and these

         16  kids, and these young adults get slaps on the wrist,

         17  and I have just have to take the opportunity to

         18  commend the District Attorney from Richmond County,

         19  we actually- he actually was able to get a felony

         20  plea on a graffiti case last year, and it is the

         21  first time in a lots of folks recollection that we

         22  actually got a felony plea.  And I think District

         23  Attorney, Dan Donovan has made this prosecuting

         24  graffiti vandals a top priority, and I think in

         25  response to Council Member Yassky's point is a good
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          2  one.

          3                 I am not familiar with what the other

          4  four D.A.'s are doing but I think when we have them

          5  in front of us in a few weeks at the budget hearing,

          6  Mr. Chairman, that we need to stress to them, if

          7  they are not already doing it, that they should

          8  follow the lead of the newest District Attorney from

          9  Staten Island because he seems to be doing it the

         10  right way.

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  Council member,

         12  I had not mentioned as part of the initiative with

         13  our borough coordinators that are in the rank of

         14  Deputy Inspector and above, have been asked to

         15  identify a district attorney representative to focus

         16  in on anybody that was captured that was high

         17  profile in terms of a graffiti recidivist, and give

         18  it a focused look, as the case was moving forward.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CURITORE:

         20  Could I just jump in too?

         21                 What we do is we also use through the

         22  Pumpner (phonetic) Probation Community Service

         23  Workers to actually clean graffiti.  Now we do not

         24  know if they are actually sentenced for graffiti

         25  but- we have no way of knowing that, but we just use
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          2  the pool a couple of days a week, and we actually go

          3  out there and do overlays.

          4                 If we have any quality of life issues

          5  on the, say street bridges, not regular bridges,

          6  with graffiti, we use them also, just as an overlay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Do you find you

          8  have enough resources using them?  Would you like

          9  more people sentenced to graffiti removal?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  Like I

         11  said, we do not know what the sentence entails.  We

         12  do not know if the person that they are getting, the

         13  Department of Probation, actually got arrested for

         14  graffiti, we have no way of knowing that.  But we

         15  just know there is a pool of people.  We could

         16  always use more.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We will work on

         18  that also.

         19                 Last question regarding my bill,

         20  which would ban the possession of graffiti tools by

         21  anyone 21 and under, and the sale of graffiti tools

         22  to basically anyone.

         23                 Does the City yet have a position on

         24  that?

         25                 DEPUTY CHIEF YOUNG:  Generally we are
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          2  in support, we have got the Police Department to

          3  look forward for all our enforcement effort tools

          4  that takes place.

          5                 There may be some issues relative to

          6  the professional need in certain situations that we

          7  would have to work through but conceptionally we are

          8  in total support of it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well, this is

         10  the beginning of a long process with regard to that

         11  bill.  So we look forward to working with the

         12  Administration on that.

         13                 COUNSEL:  And if I could just add,

         14  the Police Department of course is very supportive

         15  of enhanced enforcement efforts but I- we cannot

         16  speak for the entire attitude of the Administration

         17  on that issue because there are a lot of other

         18  considerations, including economic, so, just as we

         19  continue to discuss this, I think I just wanted to

         20  make that point, that we of course love enforcement

         21  but there are competing issues also attached to that

         22  bill that need to be thought through.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Yes, we do not

         24  support the banning of it because there are other

         25  uses that it could be used for.
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          2                 Well, the next panel will be heard

          3  more on that when I discussed myself getting

          4  criticism, this is what we are talking about.  So,

          5  we will be hearing from them next.

          6                 But I think that the council members

          7  are finished with their questions for today, so, we

          8  look forward to working with all of you on these

          9  issues, and thank you all for the great work you are

         10  doing in fighting graffiti.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 Next panel consists of Donald

         13  Halperin from the New York Retail Association,

         14  Donald Brewer from Home Depot, Robert Hills who

         15  represents the National Council to Prevent

         16  Delinquency, which is an industry- funded group.

         17                 Good morning, gentlemen.

         18                 MR. HILLS:  Good morning, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you all

         21  for coming down. I guess you may begin.  Please

         22  identify yourself.

         23                 MR. HILLS:  And I want to apologize

         24  to Chairman Vallone and to the Committee for the

         25  voice, walking around New York in the rain for a day
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          2  before a hearing is not a smart thing to do.

          3                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          4  testify this morning.

          5                 I am Robert Hills, and I had the NCPD

          6  Anti- Graffiti Project.  We worked with communities

          7  and the cities for the past decade on graffiti

          8  reduction and prevention.

          9                 With a few important exceptions, we

         10  have a great deal of enthusiasm for the legislation

         11  being considered this morning.

         12                 To begin, on Intro. 299- A, we

         13  believe goes a long way to streamline the process of

         14  accessing and cleaning commercial and multi- unit

         15  residential properties.

         16                 It also contains a real incentive for

         17  property owners with no charge abatement and

         18  exchange for written consent and liability waiver,

         19  and a comment on the earlier discussion here, Mr.

         20  Chairman, we did not pick up any problems in your

         21  language on the property access in the hearing, and

         22  I would suggest that on our website is the language

         23  from 2001 for the District of Columbia that deals

         24  with this same issue.  It is not as quite eloquently

         25  drafted as your committee has done it, but I think
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          2  it covers the same issues, and to my knowledge, they

          3  have had no problems with that.

          4                 We would make two suggestions for

          5  either the Intro. Or for the forms that are

          6  discussed there for liability and access. We would

          7  suggest that when those forms are signed, either it

          8  is stated in your legislation or stated on the form

          9  that the access be not for this one incident but

         10  continuing access to that property.

         11                 We would also suggest that property

         12  owners be given the opportunity to submit these

         13  forms to the city prior to having their property

         14  tagged.

         15                 There are two things we know, we know

         16  if you come in quickly and remove the tags, you get

         17  fewer tags, and we know that if the either the

         18  neighborhood group or the city has access to whole

         19  blocks or neighborhoods, you can put in effect a

         20  zero tolerance program.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  These are

         22  suggestions we have heard actually for the community

         23  groups too, and we may be incorporating those.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MR. HILLS:  You are welcome.
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          2                 That would be pretty much the summary

          3  on that bill. We endorse that bill.

          4                 On Intro. 477, we have always and

          5  continue to promote making children responsible for

          6  their actions, and parents responsible for their

          7  children.

          8                 I think in your legislation here, you

          9  put that principal in concrete terms, in terms of

         10  fines and particularly, victim restitution.

         11  Abatement efforts are fine but they do not really,

         12  in some instances, say an etched restaurant or a

         13  store window, they are not going to be responsive.

         14  Victim restitution is going to allow those people to

         15  deal with that problem.

         16                 The only caution I would make here

         17  is, we find always the core problem with these kids,

         18  if they are past 18 or under 18, usually starts in

         19  the home.  So we think that the focus on parental

         20  liability is good.

         21                 We would caution that what we have

         22  seen in other cities is sometimes, when you get into

         23  a home environment you realize that the home needs

         24  more help than it needs fines, and so it is- usually

         25  it is frequently a candidate for City Services
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          2  rather than city penalties.  So, I just put that

          3  caution in there.

          4                 As far as strengthening a reward

          5  program, we would endorse that.  We also, and I am

          6  not familiar with your system but in some cities,

          7  the fines on retailers for violations, the fines for

          8  graffiti crime, all these fines go into a fund, and

          9  that fund can be used for the rewards.

         10                 The ability of the council to raise

         11  the reward amount, I think, could entice additional

         12  people and what we have seen happen occasionally is

         13  the competing tagger crews will turn in each other

         14  for the money, and I think we all love when that

         15  happens.

         16                 On 525, we have endorsed signage and

         17  given samples of signage in previous testimony to

         18  the council.

         19                 In the packet with our testimony you

         20  will find samples of a re- issue that we will

         21  putting out in probably the next month in Suffolk

         22  County, and that is similar to what you have in

         23  mind.

         24                 I would caution that the- I would

         25  look at the specs on that, the two- inch letters are
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          2  roughly three times the size of those mandated by

          3  any other jurisdiction, and by putting in a specific

          4  color, you limit the retailers ability to comply if

          5  a

          6  line- if a sign is damaged or destroyed or lost in

          7  some fashion. They would want to put up one before

          8  they were able to be resupplied by the City, so,

          9  those would be our two cautions.

         10                 I also, my apologies again, I also

         11  would suggest that a paragraph be added in here, and

         12  we can supply language for this, for those stores

         13  that have computerized checkout because it is

         14  possible to program that checkout computer so that

         15  when the spray paint bar code or the marker barcode

         16  goes across, the checkout process stops and the

         17  clerk gets a prompt that says,`check for ID.'

         18                 Now that is pretty much full proof,

         19  you do not have to have a trained clerk to be able

         20  to do that in a store, and as the five boroughs are

         21  getting more of the larger stores, these stores have

         22  checkout islands or kiosks, they do not have

         23  counters, so there is really no place to put a sign.

         24

         25                 I would add that paragraph so that
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          2  the bigger or the newer stores can be in compliance,

          3  and in compliance also with the other laws in regard

          4  to banning sale to minors.

          5                 The final item that the chairman

          6  mentioned here in regard to making it illegal to-

          7  for minors to purchase, as well as for people to

          8  sell, we think that is an excellent point.

          9                 What we find is that younger vandals

         10  will go from store to store to store to buy

         11  products, particularly in an environment where,

         12  under compliance, they are locked up.  There is no

         13  penalty for doing this.  The clerk who is either

         14  untrained or distracted or something, who finally

         15  sells to that kid, has committed a crime.  The kid

         16  has not.  You have just leveled the playing field

         17  with this legislation, and we would endorse that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you for

         19  your comments on that one.  I am not sure why Jim

         20   "Jean Claude" Oddo would put in a requirement for

         21  orange letters but we will find out.

         22                 And now to the one that you do not

         23  like.

         24                 MR. HILLS:  Well, this Intro. 556, on

         25  the first portion on possession, we have no
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          2  experience with cities putting in simple possession

          3  language.

          4                 Most of the things that I can share

          5  with you, we did not create- we got from somebody

          6  else.  We have a pretty large data base of programs

          7  and of ordinances, and I am not knowledgeable enough

          8  to comment on that.

          9                 We would certainly endorse the

         10  possession with intent language because I feel that

         11  any legitimate tool you can provide a police officer

         12  for a crime that takes place very quickly and

         13  usually in the dark.  If possession with intent is

         14  one of those tools, then we would endorse that.

         15                 Now the part of this Intro. That we

         16  would oppose is the ban as it is written here.

         17                 Now, we feel that if this is based on

         18  information from Chicago, that it is quite possible

         19  that that information is incomplete.

         20                 Now there is a whole lot to admire in

         21  what Chicago has done in regard to the graffiti

         22  issue.  In`93 when the ban was enacted, the city

         23  expanded its abatement program dramatically, and I

         24  think Mayor Daley tends to make no small plans.  He

         25  did not just put his toe in the water here, he
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          2  launched an armada.  He bought 19 of the full side

          3  soda blaster units, mounted them on flatbed trucks.

          4  Those run five days a week, and they work on brick

          5  and stone and other buildings; less abrasive than

          6  the sanding units. They hired 16 painting

          7  contractors, with vans, to go around and activated

          8  or kind of re- energized all of the department

          9  programs, Transportation does their cleaning

         10  projects, Parks and Rec. Does their cleaning,

         11  Sanitation does some, and the community clean- up

         12  program, which is a lot like the Mayor's Paint back

         13  here, which was started three years before that, it

         14  was pumping 20,000 free gallons of paint, and this

         15  is a city that is about one- third the size of New

         16  York, so, if you take those numbers and multiply

         17  them by three, that is a pretty massive abatement

         18  effort.

         19                 Now, the city today looks much better

         20  than the city did then, and the situation is that

         21  the Graffiti Blasters Program, and it is in the

         22  written testimony, the Graffiti Blasters Program

         23  budget today is the same as it was at the beginning

         24  of the abatement effort.  The soda blasters still

         25  roll, and the community program,`Give Graffiti the
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          2  Brush', which is the free paint to neighborhood

          3  volunteers, has passed 200,000 gallons and is still

          4  going strong.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Do you know how

          6  those programs compare with New York City?

          7                 We have got the same programs here,

          8  obviously, but what is- in your experience, how do

          9  they compare?

         10                 MR. HILLS:  In my experience, there

         11  are gaps in my knowledge of what the city is doing.

         12  I know some of the parallels here.  We were in with

         13  the Deputy Commissioner who testified here earlier

         14  just about a week and a half ago as one of our

         15  projects to replenish the Mayor's Paint Program,

         16  that is very similar to- we have a neighborhood

         17  paint bank program that we run, and this is a strong

         18  parallel.

         19                 I cannot tell you in volume, I can

         20  tell you, and maybe the Community Services Unit can

         21  clarify that they have given out a couple of

         22  thousand gallons, or close to that, over the last, I

         23  think, year.

         24                 The Chicago program averages 20,000

         25  gallons a year. Now, there are probably other
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          2  resources.  This is the largest city that we come in

          3  contact with, and our information is limited to

          4  those people, pretty much who contact us but if you

          5  were going to, say, what is the Soda Blaster

          6  Program, how would that be in New York?  That would

          7  be 60 flatbed trucks with full size soda blasters on

          8  them, rolling five days a week in the City of New

          9  York.  That would be the thing.

         10                 But the point I was going to make, in

         11  Chicago had in`93, they expanded the program, not

         12  just for public property but to private property.

         13  The city took on a massive job of cleaning up every

         14  building, not just the city buildings.  They put

         15  this tremendous force on the street, and they

         16  cleaned, and they caught up and the city looks much

         17  better.  But the dollar volume for anti graffiti,

         18  for new graffiti, is roughly the same, and possibly

         19  greater, considering the backlog that was there, and

         20  the city looks good because the city takes care, it

         21  keeps pace with the graffiti problem.

         22                 It is not that the was a ban on

         23  retail sale, it is that the abatement program was

         24  huge and continues to be very active.  That would be

         25  our perception.
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          2                 Now, the other thing, I do not want

          3  to take all the time for this panel, but the other

          4  point I wanted to speak to was the results from

          5  Congressman (SIC) Gioia's- the survey in 2002. I do

          6  not think anybody is happy with those numbers in

          7  regard to retailer compliance.

          8                 I personally would look at that as

          9  target- rich environment if I were in Code

         10  Enforcement but apparently, we are not going that

         11  way here.

         12                 What we would suggest, and I have

         13  talked briefly with the retailers here, is that, and

         14  not today but prior to today. When we put in a

         15  responsible retailing program in a city, we locate

         16  and identify every outlet for the covered products.

         17  We identify the managers or the owners of each of

         18  those stores.  We provide them, and the signage from

         19  Suffolk County in your folder will show you some of

         20  the stuff that we put out, we put- give them signs

         21  for the inside of their stores that warn against the

         22  penalties for graffiti, that warn on compliance with

         23  the municipal restrictions, be they a ban on sale to

         24  minors or whatever they will be.

         25                 Now we, in talking to the retailers,
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          2  if we were to work with the city, we would identify

          3  the outlets for these- you have got three

          4  categories- of restricted products here, we would

          5  identify those places, we would develop the

          6  education materials, and we would do that placement.

          7    Then, we again in collaboration with these

          8  partners, would do another compliance audit to see

          9  if the education is really what was needed.  The law

         10  has been in place a long time, there are a lot of

         11  new stores, there are a lot of new managers, there

         12  are a lot of new employees.  That could be part of

         13  the problem.  The awareness and the ignorance could

         14  be part of the problem.

         15                 If that is the case, and that comes

         16  out in the audit, then we could maintain a

         17  continuing retailer education program to make them

         18  partners in the anti- graffiti effort, rather than

         19  essentially targets.

         20                 Now, if those data were not good

         21  after that survey, then NCPD would certainly be

         22  willing to talk to the city about putting in a

         23  permit or licensing program for people who carry

         24  these products.  A modest fee and a required

         25  registration would give Code Enforcement a road map
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          2  to the places that they would need to watch, and the

          3  multiple offenses in any given time would give the

          4  city the right to withdraw the permit to sell or not

          5  to renew the permit to sell, thereby sticking the

          6  violator with an inventory of normally profitable

          7  things he cannot sell.  Now if you take that line,

          8  the honest retailer, the guy who is going to comply

          9  with the law, is inconvenienced by registering and

         10  maybe paying $25 or $50 to cover the cost of the

         11  processing, the people who are not going to get with

         12  the program are- get out of the business.  Now that

         13  is what we would propose as the alternative.

         14                 So Mr. Chairman, I believe, that is

         15  all I have, and I really thank you for giving me the

         16  time today.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you very

         18  much for those constructive ideas.

         19                 Just to be clear though, you said you

         20  were industry funded.

         21                 Which industry funds your group?

         22                 MR. HILLS:  The paint industry.  The

         23  paint industry started funding us in the mid-

         24  1900's, or mid- 1990's excuse me, I am really not

         25  that old, even though I sound like it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  No wonder you

          3  sound like that.

          4                 MR. HILLS:  Yes, well you know, all

          5  the best plastic guys are in New York.

          6                 The purpose was to, there was a lot

          7  of negative imagery for what they considered to be a

          8  product that was made to make things look better and

          9  last longer, and so they contribute to us to help

         10  deal with the misuse of the product.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

         12                 MR. HALPERIN:  Yes, Chairman Vallone

         13  and member of the Committee.

         14                 My name is Donald Halperin, and I am

         15  here today testifying on behalf of the New York

         16  Metropolitan Retail Association, known as NYMRA, an

         17  organization consisting primarily of national chain

         18  retailers operating within the City of New York.

         19                 NYMRA well appreciates the fact that

         20  graffiti persists as a major eyesore, and negatively

         21  affects the quality of life in many neighborhoods.

         22                 Certainly, while a number of measures

         23  contained in the four bills being considered today

         24  are worthwhile in the ongoing fight against

         25  graffiti, we must strongly, object to the amendment
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          2  to Section 10- 117, paragraph (d), of the

          3  Administrative Code, which would prohibit retail

          4  sale of "aerosol spray paint cans, broad tipped

          5  indelible markers, or etching acid."

          6                 In essence, this language prohibits

          7  the sale of such items to the average New York

          8  citizen, most of whom are responsible and totally

          9  disinclined to engage in graffiti.

         10                 Several months ago, I had occasion to

         11  purchase and use a can of spray paint for some home

         12  improvement.  I simply went to my local shopping

         13  area and came back and did the job.  Under this law,

         14  I would have to make arrangements to buy spray paint

         15  by either ordering it on the internet or from a

         16  catalog, or making a long trip from my home in

         17  Brooklyn to Nassau County or New Jersey.           I

         18  do not like graffiti any more than anyone else, but

         19  I consider it an undue infringement to prohibit me

         20  from purchasing a spray paint can in my own

         21  neighborhood.

         22                 It is also ironic to note that at

         23  least one Queens resident with whom I have spoken to

         24  feels that this bill would impede her ongoing

         25  efforts to spray over graffiti "tags" on her
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          2  property.

          3                 Aside from creating a tremendous

          4  inconvenience for numerous New Yorkers, this bill

          5  would have a significant negative economic impact

          6  upon the City of New York.  One industry group with

          7  whom I have communicated estimates that annual spray

          8  paint sales in the City of New York, and this does

          9  not include large head indelible markers or etching

         10  acid, amount to about $43 million annually.  While

         11  there are no available statistics as to what

         12  percentage of these retail sales might be exempt

         13  under this bill, it is estimated that they would be

         14  minimal.

         15                 It is also estimated that there is

         16  one job for approximately every $190,000 of sales.

         17  Applying that ratio, we could assume that close to

         18  240 jobs would be lost.  That number does not

         19  present an accurate picture of the negative economic

         20  impact on the City.  Many people who buy spray paint

         21  purchase other items that may relate to the job,

         22  such as paint remover or sandpaper.  But if someone

         23  needs to purchase spray paint, they will go to

         24  another jurisdiction and, once there, are likely to

         25  purchase enumerable unrelated items that they might
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          2  have otherwise bought in New York City.  In other

          3  words, it is not just a lost sales, but a lost

          4  customer.

          5                 It appears that the sponsors of this

          6  bill have been particularly prompted to pursue this

          7  approach using Chicago as an example.  While Chicago

          8  apparently has experienced a reduction in visible

          9  graffiti, there are real questions as to whether

         10  that is a result of the ban or of another

         11  significant change in a Chicago program that

         12  coincided with the initiation of the ban.

         13                 In 1993 when the ban was adopted,

         14  Chicago switched from cleaning only public property

         15  to include private property. The City bought a

         16  number of soda blaster trucks and launched its

         17   "Graffiti Blaster Program."  Yet, Chicago has

         18  continued to expend the same amount on this program

         19  each year between then and now, indicating not that

         20  graffiti vandalism has been reduced, but that the

         21  abatement program has been effective in removing it.

         22                 It seems that a large portion of

         23  graffiti is a result of the activities of a

         24  relatively small number of individuals, most of whom

         25  are so committed to their activities that they
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          2  should be expected to evade the purpose of the law

          3  by purchasing spray can via the internet and by

          4  catalogue.  Of course, those individuals who are

          5  used to breaking the law could also end up stealing

          6  these cans, while others might undertake an

          7  entrepreneurial approach and purchase large numbers

          8  of these cans out of the City, and resell them in

          9  the City.

         10                 This is not to say that the situation

         11  is hopeless. More effective law enforcement,

         12  combined with joint efforts of the National Council

         13  to Prevent Delinquency Anti- Graffiti Project, the

         14  retail community, and the city government should

         15  substantially curtail the dissemination of potential

         16  graffiti tools.

         17                 NYMRA makes itself available to work

         18  with the City Council, but remains adamantly opposed

         19  to Intro. 556 in its current form, and by that I

         20  mean, the ban on the sale.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Mr. Halperin,

         22  who do you represent?

         23                 MR. HALPERIN:  The New York

         24  Metropolitan Retail Association.  It includes

         25  national retails essentially, some regional retails,
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          2  such as Home Depot which is here today, J.C. Penny,

          3  Sears, many other large retailers.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, thank

          5  you.

          6                 Do you have a statement also?

          7                 MR. BREWER:  Yes, I do.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay.

          9                 MR. BREWER:  Chairman Vallone, and

         10  members of the Committee, my name is Don Brewer.  I

         11  am the Regional Merchandise Manager, for the New

         12  York City Home Depot stores.

         13                 The Home Depot operates 16 stores

         14  throughout the five New York City boroughs,

         15  employing over 4,800 full and part time associates.

         16  Our company pays a substantial amount of taxes and

         17  our associates are active in and live in the

         18  communities in which we operate.  Among the many

         19  community service programs we conduct is a

         20  partnership with New York Cares, an organization

         21  dedicated to providing hands- on volunteer service

         22  to New Yorkers in need.  Through the partnership,

         23  The Home Depot provides supplies, services and know-

         24  how necessary to complete volunteer projects.

         25                 The Home Depot supports the City's
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          2  efforts to prevent and remove graffiti from our

          3  neighborhoods.  To that end, we donate a great deal

          4  of graffiti removal paint and supplies to New York

          5  Cares, and other groups.

          6                 We support many of the provisions in

          7  Councilman Vallone's proposed ordinance.

          8                 However, we must strongly object to

          9  the amendment to Section 10- 117, paragraph (d), of

         10  the Administrative Code, which would prohibit retail

         11  sale of "aerosol spray paint cans, broad tipped

         12  indelible markers, or etching acid."

         13                 In essence, this language prohibits

         14  the sale of such items to the average New York

         15  citizen, most of who are responsible and totally

         16  disinclined to engage in graffiti.

         17                 If this ordinance were to become law

         18  in its current form, our "do it yourself" customers

         19  would be forced to travel outside the New York City

         20  limits to New Jersey or Upstate to purchase these

         21  products in order to complete their home improvement

         22  projects.  The majority of our customers who buy

         23  spray paint purchase other items that may relate to

         24  their project.  We expect a significant drop in over

         25  all sales as well as ales tax generated across our
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          2  16 stores.

          3                 Our stores are all aware of the

          4  importance of enforcing current restrictions on the

          5  sale of spray paint to anyone under 18 years of age.

          6

          7                 To that end, we conduct consistent

          8  training of all of our associates on this issue.

          9                 In addition, we have programmed our

         10  cash registers to prompt our cashiers to require ID

         11  whenever a spray paint product is scanned through

         12  the register.

         13                 The Home Depot is more than willing

         14  to work with the New York City Council on this

         15  ordinance, but remains opposed to Introduction 556

         16  in its current form.

         17                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         18  testify before the Committee on Public Safety.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, thank

         20  you.

         21                 Mr. Halperin and Mr. Brewer, you

         22  heard Mr. Hills give us some ideas.  Obviously, you

         23  will never support this bill entirely.  You probably

         24  will not support it ever, in any form, but if there

         25  were changes to be made, what would you suggest?
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          2                 MR. HALPERIN:  Well, because of the

          3  shortness of time between when the announcement was

          4  made about the hearing, and I could not fully

          5  communicate with all the members, I can say that as

          6  relates to other issues, we have worked with the

          7  City, and with other groups to try to deal with the

          8  problems through various programs implemented in the

          9  store.

         10                 I know a number of my members do have

         11  the types of prompts that Mr. Hills mentioned, which

         12  indicates when- that an item is not to be sold under

         13  a certain age.  It is something that is already is

         14  provided with the technology that exists.

         15                 I, once again, cannot make a adamant

         16  commitment but my guess would be that that kind of

         17  approach would be acceptable to the Association, and

         18  other reasonable efforts to prevent the sale of

         19  these types of instrumentalities to minors.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well, in that

         21  regard, Home Depot and many of the other big stores

         22  are now relying more and more on self- check.

         23                 How do those machines work to prevent

         24  minors from buying spray paint?

         25                 MR. HALPERIN:  Yes, well, that would
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          2  be part of the problem.  I think we would have to

          3  look at some way to control who got their hands of

          4  this in the first place, which is currently part of

          5  the law.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  That is what we

          7  are going right now.

          8                 MR. HALPERIN:  Right, no, no, well

          9  no, control who gets their hands on it within the

         10  store by not just letting anyone pick it up.

         11                 In other words, there are

         12  prohibitions as to the display of certain items that

         13  are prohibited for sale to minors.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Self- check is

         15  available right now, so what efforts have you made

         16  to control who picks up the spray paint as we speak?

         17                 MR. HALPERIN:  Well, what I am saying

         18  is that this is something that we would work with

         19  you on, and to--.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  What I am

         21  saying is the law is clear right now, and it is

         22  something you should be working on.

         23                 So, what are you doing?

         24                 MR. HALPERIN:  The different stores,

         25  once again, I say that different stores have
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          2  different policies, and there are prohibitions now,

          3  and many stores lock up these materials, and will

          4  only provide it to someone who is of the appropriate

          5  age.

          6                 In other words, it is not just

          7  displayed on- maybe you can--.

          8                 MR. BREWER:  Speaking of the issue of

          9  self- checkout, we have head cashiers available at

         10  each self- check out bank, so, as long as those

         11  registers prompt to ask for ID, that individual

         12  would go up to that customer and ask for that ID.

         13                 They can be programmed to do exactly

         14  what any register would do.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Are they

         16  programmed that way right now?

         17                 MR. BREWER:  I would have to check

         18  but I know that they can be.

         19                 I believe that they are.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, I would

         21  recommend that if they are not, that that happens

         22  prior to this bill because as we go through this

         23  process, it would be evidence of compliance, it

         24  would be something that we would take into account

         25  as we craft the bill.
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          2                 MR. BREWER:  My understanding is that

          3  it would be, if it has not been done already, it is

          4  a simple matter to have that done.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Because as you

          6  know, we have recently done a study here at the City

          7  Council showing that compliance was not great, I am

          8  getting the statistics as we speak, in selling these

          9  instruments to kids.

         10                 Council Member Katz, did you have a

         11  question?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  I am trying to

         13  get a read on all the players.

         14                 Just a quick question.

         15                 Clearly, graffiti is a huge issue in

         16  the City of New York, and I know that nobody is for

         17  graffiti.

         18                 So the question becomes, at least two

         19  our of three of you, seem to work nationwide, and

         20  the question becomes, you know Home Depot has stores

         21  nationwide I believe, and although the Retail

         22  Association Metropolitan Council is here, maybe you

         23  have some sort of idea what happens nationwide.

         24                 I guess number one, if this bill is

         25  not going to work, is there things that other cities
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          2  have done that you think might be better at dealing

          3  with delinquency and dealing with teenagers

          4  especially, I think that commit graffiti.

          5                 Number two, I believe it was Chicago

          6  Mr. Chair, or some other city, Chicago, who already

          7  has a law in place like this. Do you know how that

          8  has affected the graffiti in that city, and whether

          9  or not, I do not know how you do it, less people

         10  have been convicted, or less money has been spent to

         11  do graffiti cleanup?

         12                 MR. HALPERIN:  Well, I addressed that

         13  in my testimony.

         14                 What I said was that the budget for

         15  the graffiti removal program, which was implemented

         16  in 1993 in Chicago has not decreased over all those

         17  years, it has been touted as an effect

         18  of- the ban has been touted as an effective means of

         19  removing, of preventing graffiti.

         20                 I do not know the number of arrests,

         21  but it would seem to indicate that if the ban had

         22  prevented the graffiti from being done in the first

         23  place, you would not have to have the same budget to

         24  remove it, but the budget has not been reduced to

         25  remove it, and it is a major effect.
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          2                 So, one could assume that the impact

          3  of the actual ban on sale has not played a major

          4  role in reducing the graffiti.               It is

          5  the graffiti removal that has been more effective.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  And the first

          7  part to my question?

          8                 MR. HALPERIN:  Which was, if you will

          9  remind me?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Which was,

         11  everyone agrees that we need to do something in the

         12  City of New York regarding graffiti.  It is a

         13  problem in every single one of our districts, so the

         14  question I have is, since all of you seem to work

         15  nationwide, has there been anything that, off the

         16  top of your heads, that seems to have worked in

         17  facing and addressing teenage graffiti vandalism?

         18                 MR. HILLS:  I think that there are a

         19  number of things that have been developed over the

         20  last few years that are embodied or adapted in much

         21  of the legislation that we talked about today.

         22                 Parental liability, getting parents

         23  involved in the activities of their children.

         24  Victim restitution, where it is very difficult to

         25  get the chain going from the Police Department to
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          2  the prosecutor, to the case making, to the judge, to

          3  the juvenile, I mean, if that chain breaks down at

          4  any place, then there really is no crime and

          5  punishment, if you will.

          6                 The victim restitution adds a serious

          7  aspect of dollars to that situation.

          8                 The parental liability involves the

          9  parent in making them responsible for the actions of

         10  their kids, and that is very positive.

         11                 The possession with intent is very

         12  positive.

         13                 The ability to access private

         14  property, I mean, some of the older laws are very

         15  convoluted with hearings, and assessments, and

         16  billings, and tax liens, and the message that has

         17  been coming through the last few years is that paint

         18  and power washers are cheaper than lawyers.

         19                 If you can get that kind of access,

         20  you can sweep a neighborhood every morning, if

         21  necessary, to knock out the tags. All of these

         22  components, and much of what is on the table today,

         23  I think, is going to be of tremendous assistance

         24  here.

         25                 The only thing that we have not
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          2  talked about, and that we have a lot of trouble

          3  getting people interested in is the values education

          4  aspect because the long- term solution to this

          5  problem is to reduce or cut off the number of kids

          6  who enter the taggers stream, that peer group, that

          7  sub- culture that replicates itself and acts out on

          8  the walls of this City.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Mr. Chair, I

         10  just- the only comment I would make is I would like

         11  to know, I understand that Chicago's budget for

         12  graffiti cleanup has not decreased, but it also

         13  could be that they are cleaning up graffiti that had

         14  so become a problem before they passed the law as

         15  well.

         16                 I would be interested to know the

         17  arrests and the amount of folks that are being

         18  caught for graffiti because that number markedly

         19  went down or stayed the same, I think that is also a

         20  very telling indication of whether or not the law

         21  might work.

         22                 And just for the record to be clear,

         23  for Home Depot, your argument is an interesting-

         24  your argument is that it might if teenagers could

         25  not get paint, spray paint, but they will just go
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          2  outside our borders to get it.

          3                 Is that basically your argument?

          4                 MR. BREWER:  Well, that is part of

          5  the argument, yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  All right,

          7  thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 Thank you, gentlemen.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         10  Council member.

         11                 Let me say that our recent, well 2002

         12  study of stores that sell spray paint, found that 50

         13  percent, 50 percent of them sold to minors, and out

         14  of the art stores that sold markers, 100 percent of

         15  them sold to the minors.  That is what we are

         16  dealing with here.

         17                 Let me go to Council Member Oddo.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 Let me just say, as I stated earlier,

         21  I think that you have achieved the victory by simply

         22  introducing this bill, and I think the success is

         23  not only in that we have had this hearing, but I

         24  think the success lies in the fact that we just

         25  heard an individual who is paid by the industry, say
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          2  that maybe that we need to regulate and license

          3  those merchants selling these graffiti tools.

          4                 I cannot recall in my history of the

          5  13/14 years in the council when an industry came in

          6  or an industry- related individual came in and said

          7  that.  So, I think you have won already by simply

          8  introducing the bill.

          9                 Let me say Mr. Hills, I think your

         10  testimony was wonderful, and there are lots of

         11  points well taken.

         12                 Let me just take a couple that have

         13  to do with the pieces of legislation that I

         14  introduced.

         15                 I think your point about Intro. 477

         16  about there needs to be some latitude built into the

         17  process for that financially strapped, perhaps

         18  multi- job single parent, I think that is a great

         19  point.

         20                 In fact, my daily newspaper that- it

         21  is like the Bible in my district, opposed my bill

         22  for that very reason.  I happen to think, certainly

         23  in my district, certainly in many parts of the City,

         24  that is the exception to the rule, and I think that,

         25  perhaps, maybe this is true in Staten Island,
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          2  perhaps it is true to other parts of the city but

          3  that misguided and ignorant notion that graffiti

          4  emanates from a certain socio- economic class, is

          5  blown to bits, and in fact, if you look at the

          6  arrests I eluded to earlier, Steven Alesandro, Frank

          7  Gerimeda, Brian Behan, Josh Reilly, Joseph Nielson,

          8  John Gulimon, Michael Machosi, Lucian Bastian,

          9  Bernardo Roman, Jerry Offado, David Siegel (all

         10  phonetic), the individuals arrested on Staten Island

         11  in the last six months come predominantly from

         12  middle- class and upper- middle- class districts in

         13  the mid island district that I represent, and in the

         14  South Shore.

         15                 So, I think your point is a good one.

         16    I think every judge on any situation has

         17  discretion, and when there is a hard working, single

         18  parent before them, no judge is going to give that

         19  individual a fine.  But the reality is in many

         20  portions of the City of New York, you have rich and

         21  well- to- do kids who are doing it, and their

         22  parents can certainly can afford it.

         23                 The second point that I want to make

         24  is regarding Intro. 525, and you talk about the

         25  need, well actually in the bigger picture you talked
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          2  about the need for retailer compliance.           I

          3  think the jumping point, the jump off point, is in

          4  fact, the bill that we are trying to introduce.

          5  This comes directly from the Police Department

          6  saying, "to ensure a higher rate of retailer

          7  compliance, you have to make our jobs of doing the

          8  purchase things a lot easier."  Instead of using

          9  kids that are not reliable, we like to use police

         10  officers, and how we can use that is if you put a

         11  bill in that says that they have to proof for age,

         12  25 and under.  That is going to allow cops to

         13  actually go in and make those purchases, so that you

         14  can have this sort of, carrot and the stick.

         15                 That is just a rant, you really do

         16  not have to respond to that.

         17                 MR. HILLS:  If I may just say one

         18  thing.  The list that you read, it tracks with our

         19  current experience and that is one of the reasons

         20  that we have not- we do not fall into the old

         21  stereo- types that this is some kind of a- there is

         22  an ethnic or a racial line on graffiti.  More often

         23  than not today we find middle-class Anglo kids

         24  coming in their own cars from suburban neighborhoods

         25  to urban neighborhoods to tag because they do not
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          2  dare get caught in their home.  That is repeated in

          3  urban areas throughout the country.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Well, the kids

          5  in Staten Island happen to be a little bit ballsyer

          6  than that, and they crap where they eat and they

          7  crap where they sleep, and frankly I think somebody

          8  mentioned it in your testimony, that we are talking

          9  about a small group, and that small group gets to

         10  dictate to a certain degree, to a large degree, the

         11  quality of life in our communities. That is why I

         12  welcome, and I appreciate, and I respect, and I

         13  admire Chairman Vallone for putting out a bill like

         14  this, to start a debate knowing full well that he is

         15  going to get criticized, and criticized heavily from

         16  some circles.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         18  Council member.

         19                 I just would also like to remind Mr.

         20  Halperin, maybe, and Home Depot, that in 2002, Home

         21  Depot paid a fine of $125,000 to settle multiple

         22  counts of selling box cutters and spray paint to

         23  kids.  I will not go into the details of that but

         24  this is a huge problem that we are dealing with

         25  here, and self- regulation has not been working.
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          2                 Let me go to Council Member Gale

          3  Brewer, the Chair of our Technology Committee.

          4                 Gale, maybe you can get to the bottom

          5  of this self check thing.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Well thank

          7  you.

          8                 One of the questions I have, and I

          9  think that the Chair knows this, is that we have

         10  actually with Tom Curitore, and the Mayor's Graffiti

         11  Office, we have gone store to store with the

         12  graffiti, and then gotten permission and painted

         13  ourselves, either with the spray paint on the pull-

         14  down gates, erasing it, or going to under the

         15  bridges and so on, on the West Side of Manhattan.

         16                 It is a very time consuming process

         17  because, correctly, you have to get permission of

         18  the store keeper, who's gate is up when you are

         19  there with the brush and the truck.  So, I have done

         20  this day after day, after day.  I think I am the

         21  only council member who has taken advantage of this

         22  program in such an extensive way, but the graffiti

         23  comes back.

         24                 So, my question to you is in terms of

         25  community service, I know that I am on some of these
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          2  bills, and I support the chairman on what he is

          3  doing, and I certainly have spent a lot of time on

          4  scratchy knee and the etching materials, which seem

          5  to end up on the glass in our district office on a

          6  regular basis.  But the question is, just in terms

          7  of community service on your part, the fact of the

          8  leg work of talking to the other store keepers who

          9  are covered with the closed down gates at night, and

         10  then getting that permission, et cetera, is that

         11  something that as a community service, in that you

         12  are understandably selling a product that is

         13  creating, not the problem because it is a person who

         14  has to put the material on there, I understand that,

         15  but the fact of the matter is some kind of public

         16  service that would help us get permission each and

         17  every time

         18                 Now there are some bills that say,`we

         19  do not need permission, we are just going to do it,

         20  and do the paint without the permission.'  I do not

         21  know if they would stand any kind of legal test.

         22  But I am saying that this is the problem.  In order

         23  to go to every single store, forget the aerials, and

         24  the bridges, and the Amtrak and the post boxes and

         25  the list is endless for the agencies.  The fact of
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          2  the matter, each individual storekeeper almost on

          3  every block in this city, has an immense amount of

          4  graffiti on their pull- down night gate, those that

          5  have night gates that you pull down.  So I am just

          6  saying that that is a huge problem.  I did not know

          7  if you could help us address it.

          8                 MR. HILLS:  Council woman, I believe

          9  in the testimony probably before you came in, we had

         10  recommended two amendments on this bill, and that

         11  would have provided that when a permission is

         12  signed, and a liability waiver is signed, it is

         13  maintaining in perpetuity, it does not have to be

         14  signed each time that you go by a store.

         15                 The second was that the property

         16  owners have the opportunity to sign the access and

         17  the liability waiver prior to being hit by a

         18  graffiti vandal.  So that, you can go through,

         19  hopefully, the trip would be once through the

         20  neighborhood with some follow ups to get those

         21  permissions, not every time.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, I

         23  appreciate that.

         24                 I can just tell you just going

         25  through once is a very time consuming experience.
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          2                 MR. HILLS:  Yes, we did the Adams-

          3  Morgan area, led the clean up there in Washington,

          4  D.C. Two years ago, as kind of a - really, I guess,

          5  three years ago because we used as the model for

          6  their access information, and I know what it is like

          7  to track down absentee landlords and all the other

          8  things you have to do out there.

          9                 MR. HALPERIN:  Mr. Chairman, could I

         10  just- in response to your comment regarding the

         11  fine.

         12                 Home Depot, yes, they were not doing

         13  things correctly, they settled, they paid a large

         14  fine, and they also altered the way they operated

         15  because of that.  I mean, all of these laws require

         16  enforcement.  I mean, you can have a ban on the sale

         17  of spray paint, but that does not mean that stores

         18  will not sell spray paint.  So, you are going to

         19  need enforcement, and I guess my main point is that

         20  you are not going to be able to stop the committed,

         21  graffiti- tag artists who are out there all the time

         22  from getting their hands on spray paint.  They are

         23  going to end up getting the spray paint, and that

         24  there are definitely things that could be done to

         25  discourage or to make it more difficult for them to
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          2  get it, that is going to require law enforcement.

          3  But, to put across a total ban, that once again,

          4  will adversely effect law abiding citizens, while

          5  probably most of the graffiti continuing to be done

          6  is just not in balance the proper approach.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  But not

          8  everything requires law enforcement.

          9                 The actions that Home Depot took were

         10  the result of the city cracking down.  They were not

         11  undertaken on their own as they should have been.

         12  For example, we discussed self- check. These self-

         13  check machines should easily be programmed. If they

         14  are not right now, they should tomorrow to not allow

         15  self- check of box cutters, to not allow self- check

         16  of any of the graffiti instruments.  If they try it,

         17  it pops up`cannot do it here', find a cashier.

         18                 Has that been done, and will it be

         19  done tomorrow or do we have to pass a law or have

         20  some sort of city action to get that to be done?

         21

         22                 MR. HALPERIN:  The answer I cannot

         23  tell you to what degree it has been- but I can tell

         24  you that spray paint cans are not supposed to be

         25  available to anybody, so they should be locked up,
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          2  so therefore, a minor should not be able to get

          3  their hands on it to even make it to the self-

          4  check.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I am sure the

          6  stock boy in aisle 17 is not checking ID's, but if

          7  that is what we are relying on, that is not good

          8  enough.  So, you need to take some of these actions

          9  by yourself, on your own, without us prodding you as

         10  this procedure goes on so that we can look at this

         11  and say,`look, the problem is taken care of.'

         12                 MR. HALPERIN:  I am really not

         13  disagreeing with that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Good, so

         15  hopefully you will be informing me soon by letter

         16  and by communication as to when that is done.  But,

         17  thank you for that.

         18                 We do appreciate your coming down

         19  here today, and we are going to incorporate much of

         20  what you said into what we are working on here.  You

         21  know how to contact us, Ted Baecher here is my

         22  counsel who is crafting all of these bills.  Any

         23  time you need to contact him, give him a call.

         24                 We look forward to working with all

         25  of you.
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          2                 So, thank you all for coming down

          3  today.

          4                 Our last panel is going to be Paul

          5  Ferruzza from the Rochester Midland Corporation, and

          6  Joseph Segretti from the Queens Civic Congress, if

          7  they are still here.

          8                 Okay, Mr. Segretti, you are

          9  apparently the only guy who was in the right room

         10  that is left to testify.  So, the floor is yours.

         11                 MR. SEGRETTI:  Good afternoon

         12  Chairman Vallone, and other committee members.

         13                 My name is Joseph Segretti, and I am

         14  here today on behalf of the Queens Civic Congress,

         15  that is an assembly of 100 civic organizations from

         16  Queens.

         17                 I am also a member of the Board of

         18  Directors of the Ridgewood Property Owners and Civic

         19  Association in Ridgewood, Queens.  In conjunction

         20  with that organization, there is also the Ridgewood

         21  Greater Restoration Corporation, which runs its own

         22  graffiti removal program, within the confines of the

         23  Community Board 5.

         24                 The Ridgewood Property Owners and

         25  Civic Association has approximately 700 members, of
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          2  property owners, that includes one to five- six and

          3  over residential and some commercial.  We represent

          4  owners that would be covered under the law of 299,

          5  and that is what I am here mostly to speak about,

          6  299.

          7                 You are considering other worthy

          8  graffiti initiatives today.  The Queens Civic

          9  Congress has considered Intro. 299 and formally

         10  decided to support that bill with the

         11  recommendations that we have made previously to your

         12  staff.

         13                 The revised bill expands the

         14  applicability to all buildings.  It limits the

         15  fines.  It emphasizes the waivers, and expands the

         16  due process.  These are all areas that we discussed,

         17  and we are very happy to see that incorporated most

         18  of them.

         19                 We have learned that there is a

         20  significant problem with owners that refuse to

         21  remove the graffiti or give access.   We have seen

         22  that in other parts of the country.  They have

         23  enacted similar laws and that New York City is

         24  unique in not having such laws on the books.

         25                 There are a few comments that I would
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          2  like to make about the current version of 299- A.

          3  Although we were against the idea of imposing fines,

          4  we recognize that maybe with the revisions that you

          5  have limited it, there is opportunity there.  But

          6  there is some need for clarification on our reading

          7  of it.  We were not sure if the fines would be

          8  triggered immediately after a 30 days period, even

          9  if the person signed the waiver and is waiting to

         10  accept the City's removal of the graffiti.  It

         11  seemed to have opportunity to go both ways there.

         12                 We also wanted to see that it covers

         13  the properties that are New York City Industrial

         14  Development Agency- owned, and that are held in

         15  trust for proprietary leaseholders, that they would

         16  not be considered city properties, where they city

         17  employees would have to clean it, and that it also

         18  could be incorporated in the waiver process.

         19                 We also want to note that the borough

         20  president's of Queens and the Bronx have committed

         21  to showing support for 299- A, and that there is

         22  plenty of other community boards and neighborhood,

         23  community- based organizations that maintain

         24  graffiti removal programs, and we want to emphasize

         25  that these other graffiti removal resources should

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  be used in conjunction with CAU.

          3                 We support this bill, and ask that

          4  the council members of this committee, in getting

          5  this bill passed by the full Council.  We can assure

          6  this committee that we have committed ourselves in

          7  helping to get this bill passed.  We have contacted

          8  civic organizations around the city in furtherance

          9  of the goal.

         10                 I mentioned about the Queens Borough

         11  President, and the Bronx Borough President, and they

         12  said they would be submitting their letters of

         13  support directly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Mr. Segretti,

         15  thank you.

         16                 I cannot tell you how pleased we are

         17  that you came down here today, and gave us this

         18  testimony.  I know that you have been working with

         19  us throughout this process.  We have sat down at

         20  least twice with your group, and we have taken what

         21  you had to say to us into account in amending our

         22  bill.

         23                 MR. SEGRETTI:  Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And we are, as

         25  I said before, so pleased that because of those
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          2  amendments and working together, you now support

          3  this bill.  I only wish there were more council

          4  members here to hear this.  I will make sure that

          5  every one of them gets a copy of this, and is aware

          6  of that.

          7                 MR. SEGRETTI:  Well, I know Dennis

          8  Gallagher is aware of it, definitely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  He has

         10  contacted my office many, many times with your

         11  concerns, in addition to us sitting down and meeting

         12  with you.

         13                 MR. SEGRETTI:  We do want to stress

         14  that we think the key is the access, and not so much

         15  the fines.  That we want to solve the problem, and

         16  not just create some sort of small revenue train

         17  that does not do anything.  So for us, that was the

         18  key issue.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You are

         20  absolutely right, and the reason we kept both is

         21  because access is a major problem on certain

         22  locations, but it is not like the Community

         23  Assistance Unit is sitting around with no work to do

         24  waiting for access to certain properties, so we

         25  needed a two- pronged attack here and we are so glad
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          2  that you have worked with us on this.

          3                 I do not have any questions but thank

          4  you, and we will keep contact with you on this, as

          5  it goes along.

          6                 MR. SEGRETTI:  Okay, thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

          8                 With that, this meeting is adjourned.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 11:55 a.m.)
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